FILED 02-23-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2023AP001484

In the Matter of the Condition of D.S.: WINNEBAGO COUNTY,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

D.S.,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAURA M. FORCE Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1095655

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-3440 forcel@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED
IDDUED FREDENTED
CRITERIA FOR REVIEW4
STATEMENT OF FACTS5
ARGUMENT 14
I. In order to meet the DJW requirement "to make specific factual findings with reference to the subdivision paragraph of Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2. on which the recommitment is based" the circuit court cannot rely on a vague recitation of facts that does not correspond to the dangerousness elements
A. Introduction and statute 14
B. The circuit court must make sufficient "specific factual findings" to support its conclusion that D.S. was dangerous under the elements of the fifth standard
II. The county failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that D.S. was dangerous to himself or others
A. The county failed to prove D.S. dangerous under the Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.e. ("fifth") standard 22
CONCLUSION

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. This Court should accept review to determine that circuit courts may not rely on vague, conclusory and clearly erroneous findings to meet the *Langlade County v. D.J.W.*, 2020 WI 41, ¶40, 391 Wis. 2d 231, 942 N.W.2d 277, requirement that the circuit court make "specific factual findings with reference to the subdivision paragraph of § 51.20(1)(a)2. on which the recommitment is based."

The circuit court entered the recommitment order despite not making factual findings to support each of the fifth standard's statutory elements.

The ofaffirmed. court appeals v. D.S., No. Winnebago County 2023AP1484, unpublished slip op. (Jan. 24, 2024). (App. 3-16). The court held that although the circuit court "quoted heavily from Wis. Stat. § 51.20" and did not identify how the facts lined up with the elements of the fifth standard, referencing the doctor's testimony in its ruling "laid a sufficient factual predicate to establish" dangerousness. Id., ¶¶24-28. (App. 13-15).

2. If the Court grants review it should determine that the evidence failed to prove that D.S. was dangerous to himself or others as required to involuntarily commit him.

The circuit court entered the commitment order.

Case 2023AP001484 Petition for Review Filed 02-23-2024 Page 4 of 26

The court of appeals affirmed. D.S., No. 2023AP1484, unpublished slip op., $\P 5-15.$ (App. 6-10).

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

Review is warranted for two reasons. First, this case presents the Court with an opportunity to examine what constitutes sufficient proof of "dangerousness" in the context of a recommitment, and whether the hearsay testimony of an expert examiner alone can be sufficient evidence.

Second, this case presents the Court with an opportunity to revisit the directive from D.J.W., that circuit courts must make specific factual findings. This will allow the Court to provide circuit courts with clarification on what constitutes sufficient factual findings to support a conclusion of dangerousness under the Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2. subdivision paragraphs. Specifically, that unlike the court of appeals' decision in this case, reciting the elements of the dangerousness subdivision paragraph and making general factual findings based on the doctor's conclusory testimony is insufficient. factual findings must be specific and must line up with the dangerousness standard. Review of these issues is warranted because neither the circuit court nor the court of appeals identified factual findings that meet each of the elements of the fifth standard. Thus, this issue qualifies for review under Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(d).

Case 2023AP001484 Petition for Review Filed 02-23-2024 Page 5 of 26

Finally, the court of appeals rejected D.S.'s argument that the evidence of dangerousness insufficient his was to support involuntary commitment. D.S., No. 2023AP1484, unpublished slip op., ¶¶5-15. (App. 6-10). This fact-specific question does not on its own meet an enumerated criterion for review; however, if the Court grants review, D.S. requests that the Court decide it.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 18, 2023, Winnebago County filed a petition for recommitment and for involuntary medication and treatment, which sought to extend D.S.'s involuntary civil commitment for twelve months. (34:1) The petition alleged that D.S. "is not competent to refuse medication and treatment" and attached the report of D.S.'s treating psychiatrist, Dr. Michael Vicente. (34:1; 36:1).

The circuit court, the Honorable Michael S. Gibbs, presiding, held D.S.'s recommitment hearing on May 2, 2022. (128:1-3). The sole witness the county called was Dr. Vicente, the treating psychiatrist. (128:2-3). The county admitted Dr. Vicente's report into evidence over D.S.'s objection, which was based on the "multiple layers of hearsay within the report." (128:17).

Dr. Vicente testified that he is familiar with D.S. and has examined him, with the most recent examination taking place on March 27, 2023. (128:4). He opined that D.S. suffers from a mental illness,

Case 2023AP001484 Petition for Review Filed 02-23-2024 Page 6 of 26

specifically from schizophrenia. (128:5). Dr. Vicente agreed that D.S.'s mental illness is a substantial disorder and that it affects his thought and perception. (128:5-6). He also opined that D.S. is a proper subject for treatment in the form of medications and case management. (128:6).

As to dangerousness, Dr. Vicente opined that D.S. "falls under the fifth standard." (128:6-7). He explained that based on his treatment history, D.S. "when he has not been under commitment, has stopped his treatment" and that "[i]t's happened on two previous occasions, and he starts displaying some of the symptoms, such as he believed that his influences were telling him to go to other homes because they belonged to him even though they belonged to other people." (128:7). Counsel for D.S. objected to this testimony on the basis that it was hearsay. (128:7). The circuit court overruled the objection, concluding that it was not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted, "rather it's being offered as the basis for his opinion."

Dr. Vicente also testified that D.S. had told him that it happened "a few months ago" that D.S. "feared for his own safety because whether it was the military, or Germans, or other things that the influences informed him that they would do things" (128:8). At the time, D.S. was under a commitment and was Dr. Vicente's patient. (35:1; 36:1; 128:4).

Case 2023AP001484 Petition for Review Filed 02-23-2024 Page 7 of 26

The county then asked, "is it your opinion that this evidences, basically, a substantial probability that, if left untreated, he would lack services necessary for his health and safety that could result in the loss of his ability to function independently in the community?" (128:8) Defense counsel objected on the basis that the question was leading, and the circuit court overruled the objection because it was not asking a "yes or no type question." (128:8-9). In response, Dr. Vicente stated, "[D.S.]'s actions, due to the influences, put him in dangerous situations, such as going to someone's house and trying to enter it, believing it's his." (128:9). Further, he testified that D.S. "has also repeated that he does not believe he suffers from an illness and therefore does not need any treatment." (128:9-10).

As to the specific danger D.S. faced, Dr. Vicente explained that D.S. "could be putting himself in danger" by "believing it's his home and going to a stranger's house[.]" (128:11).

Over defense counsel's repeated objections, Dr. Vicente testified that he became aware—either from his examination of D.S., his review D.S.'s records. or looking treatment his own examination report—that D.S.'s neighbors had obtained a temporary restraining order against D.S. due to his trespassing. (128:11-12). The county then asked whether Dr. Vicente knew if D.S. obeyed the restraining order, and defense counsel again objected on the basis of hearsay. (128:13). The circuit court again allowed the question, ruling that it was not Case 2023AP001484 Petition for Review Filed 02-23-2024 Page 8 of 26

being offered for the truth of the matter asserted. (128:13). Dr. Vicente answered that "It was reported that he didn't [obey the restraining order]." (128:13).

Dr. Vicente also testified that D.S. would become a proper subject for commitment if treatment were withdrawn because, "The medications are helpful in addressing the behaviors associated with his symptoms, and when he's been under treatment, we have seen a decrease in the behaviors with the symptoms." (128:14). He explained, "When [D.S.] has stopped treatment after prior commitments have expired, he did become a proper subject again" on two prior occasions. (128:14). He also agreed that D.S. "would be dangerous if treatment were withdrawn." (128:15).

The doctor testified that D.S. that he was requesting that D.S. take Fluphenazine, and that D.S. was not competent to refuse medication. (128:15). He explained to D.S. the following advantages, disadvantages and alternatives to medication:

The advantages are decreasing his symptoms of psychosis and also impulsivity related to that. Some disadvantages include muscle movements, dry mouth, dizziness, tiredness, some weight changes. We did talk about some of the other treatment available, whether there be more medications. He is involved in case management and had seen counselors in the past...."

Case 2023AP001484 Petition for Review Filed 02-23-2024 Page 9 of 26

(128:15-16). It was Dr. Vicente's opinion that D.S. was not capable of expressing an understanding of the advantages, disadvantages, and alternatives of accepting medication. (128:16).

On cross examination, Dr. Vicente agreed that D.S. "has a supportive family" and "currently has a stable residence" as he "lives with his parents right now[.]" (128:20). In addition, he agreed that D.S. is "able to communicate his needs[.]" (128:21). As to the efficacy of the treatment, Dr. Vicente testified that D.S.'s delusions were ongoing, but that his behaviors "seemed to have improved." (128:18-19).

The county argued that there were grounds for extension of D.S.'s commitment under the fifth standard only. (128:22). The county also asked for an involuntary medication order. (128:22). The county further argued,

Again, going to the E standard, Your Honor, I would say that the County has met its burden. There has been evidence from Dr. Vicente showing that [D.S.] evidences an incapability of expressing an understanding of the advantages and disadvantages of accepting medication; and a substantial probability demonstrated by both the treatment history of his going on and off treatment, and his recent acts or omissions that he needs care to prevent further disability; and a substantial probability, if left untreated, that this will result in a loss of his ability to function independently in the community.

Case 2023AP001484 Petition for Review Filed 02-23-2024 Page 10 of 26

(128:23). And asked that the court find that the fact that D.S. "believes he's under influences, and then suggests that he goes to other peoples' homes, poses a significant danger to [D.S.]." (128:23).

Defense counsel argued that the county failed to commitment standard because underlying illness has to be able to be cured, improved or controlled by treatment, and Dr. Vicente's testimony was that D.S.'s mental illness could not be controlled. (128:24). As to the fifth standard of dangerousness, counsel argued that the county did not present any evidence of recent acts or omissions, further disability or deterioration without treatment, or that D.S. would lack the services necessary for his health and safety. (128:24-25). Counsel also pointed to the doctor's positive testimony about D.S., and argued that "the E standard would have to go so far as saying that he would not be able to function independently in the community and that he would suffer severe mental, emotional, or physical harm, and so I don't believe that that's appropriate." (128:25).

The circuit court stated that it "does rely heavily upon the opinions of treating medical providers." (128:26; App. 20). The court therefore found that D.S. was mentally ill, specifically that he has schizophrenia, which "is a substantial disorder of [D.S.]'s thought and perception, and that it grossly impairs his judgment, his behavior, as well as his capacity to recognize reality." (128:26; App. 20). The circuit court also made the legal conclusion that D.S.

Case 2023AP001484 Petition for Review Filed 02-23-2024 Page 11 of 26

is a proper subject for treatment, because Dr. Vicente "did indicate" as much. (128:26; App. 20).

As to dangerousness, the circuit court made the following factual findings:

As to the dangerousness, under the fifth standard, the [d]octor had indicated through prior treatment that when [D.S.] goes off of his medications and is not involved in treatment, he decompensates. And, here, there was testimony that he was a danger to himself or others through his actions.

[D.S.] himself admitted to the [d]octor the same of going to other peoples' houses primarily resulting from his delusions that there are -- that he owns the houses or should be inside the houses. There was testimony that, in the past, there were restraining orders that were taken out against him. Certainly, in today's climate, when one goes into a house or near a window of another person without their permission, there is inherent risk in doing so.

As for recent acts or omissions that [D.S.] has done, he has indicated his intention not to take the medication to the doctor. . . .

(128:26-27; App. 20-21). The court then recited the fifth standard, applying it to D.S.:

[D.S.] is mentally ill and incompetent to make medication or treatment decisions, and dangerous because there is a substantial probability that he is incapable of expressing the advantages, disadvantages, and alternatives of accepting Case 2023AP001484 Petition for Review Filed 02-23-2024 Page 12 of 26

medication or treatment, and incapable of applying an understanding of the advantages, disadvantages, and alternatives to his mental illness. He needs care and treatment in order to prevent further disability, and, if untreated, will lack the services necessary for his health or safety.

(128:27-28; App. 21-22).

However, the circuit court also found that D.S. had "a stable living environment" but concluded that there was "no reasonable provision for his care in the community without the medication and case management that the [d]octor is suggesting here." (128:28; App. 22). The court then recited the recommitment standard, concluding that there was "also a substantial likelihood, based on his treatment record, that [D.S.] would be a proper subject for commitment if treatment were withdrawn." (128:28; App. 22).

The circuit court extended D.S.'s commitment for twelve months and order authorizing involuntary medication during the commitment. (118; 119; App. 17-19). D.S. appealed.

D.S. argued that the county failed to prove that he was dangerous by clear and convincing evidence under the fifth standard, and that the circuit court failed to make specific factual findings, pursuant to Langlade County v. D.J.W., 2020 WI 41, 391 Wis. 2d 231, 942 N.W.2d 277, to support its conclusion that D.S. was dangerous. The court of appeals affirmed. First it determined that the doctor's testimony and

Case 2023AP001484 Petition for Review Filed 02-23-2024 Page 13 of 26

report were sufficient to prove dangerousness by clear and convincing evidence. D.S., No. 2023AP1484, unpublished slip op., ¶¶12-15. (App. 9-10).

Next, the court of appeals addressed whether the circuit court's findings met the D.J.W. requirement "to make specific factual findings with reference to the subdivision paragraph of Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2. on which the recommitment is based." It determined that the circuit court's ruling met the dual goals underlying the directive in D.J.W. and addressed two specific arguments D.S. made as to the factual findings. D.S., No. 2023AP1484, unpublished slip op., ¶¶16-28. (App. 11-15).

The court of appeals then distinguished D.S.'s case from *Ozaukee County v. J.D.A.*, No. 2021AP1148, unpublished slip op. (WI App Dec. 15, 2021), because in that case, the circuit court had referenced on a portion of the applicable statutory language setting forth the elements of the fifth standard in making its findings. *D.S.*, No. 2023AP1484, unpublished slip op., ¶29. (App. 15-16).

Case 2023AP001484 Petition for Review Filed 02-23-2024 Page 14 of 26

ARGUMENT

I. In order to meet the DJW requirement "to make specific factual findings with reference to the subdivision paragraph of Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2. on which the recommitment is based" the circuit court cannot rely on a vague recitation of facts that does not correspond to the dangerousness elements.

A. Introduction and statute.

Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.e., referred to as the "fifth standard," requires something above and beyond a diagnosis of mental illness. Instead, it requires proof of five elements: (1) "[A] substantial probability of a the individual's ability to function independently in the community or the loss of cognitive or volitional control over his or her thoughts or actions[;]" (2) that the subject is "incompetent to make medication or treatment decisions[;]" (3) a "substantial probability' that he or she 'needs care or further disability treatment prevent deterioration[;]" (4) "a 'substantial probability that he or she will, if left untreated, lack services necessary for his or her health or safety[;]" and (5) "a substantial that he she will. if probability or untreated, ... suffer severe mental, emotional, or physical harm that will result in the loss of the individual's ability to function independently in the community or the loss of cognitive or volitional control over his or her thoughts or actions." State v.

Case 2023AP001484 Petition for Review Filed 02-23-2024 Page 15 of 26

Dennis H., 2002 WI 104, \P 20-24, 255 Wis. 2d 359, 647 N.W.2d 851.

Asthe language shows, the quoted fifth standard is complex, and requires numerous of specialized evidence pieces to support recommitment under its terms. The circuit court must all else, that the individual conclude. above demonstrates "a substantial probability of incapacity to care for oneself." Id., ¶28. The statute allows government intervention only to prevent "acute" deterioration that would otherwise result in a total loss of independent functioning. *Id.*, ¶33-34.

Moreover, Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.e. also contains an "explicit limitation on its reach." *Dennis H.*, 255 Wis. 2d 359, ¶26. Under the statute, "the probability of suffering severe mental, emotional, or physical harm is not substantial...if reasonable provision for the individual's care or treatment is available in the community and there is a reasonable probability that the individual will avail himself or herself of these services."

In *D.J.W.* this Court mandated that going forward, circuit courts make "specific factual findings with reference to the subdivision paragraph of [Wis. Stat.] § 51.20(1)(a)2. on which the recommitment is based." *D.J.W.*, 391 Wis. 2d 231, ¶40. The Court explained that the purpose of this requirement is twofold: (1) to provide "clarity and extra protection to patients regarding the underlying basis for a recommitment[,]" because in mental commitment

Case 2023AP001484 Petition for Review Filed 02-23-2024 Page 16 of 26

proceedings, "such an important liberty interest [is] at stake[;]" and (2) to "clarify issues raised on appeal of recommitment orders and ensure the soundness of judicial decision making, specifically with regard to challenges based on the sufficiency of the evidence." Id., ¶¶42-44 (citations omitted).

This is necessary because an involuntary civil commitment "constitutes a significant deprivation of liberty that requires due process protection." *Id.* (quoting Addington v. Texas, 441 U.S. 418, 425 (1979)). Thus, the mandate to make "specific factual findings with reference to the subdivision paragraph of Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2. on which the recommitment is based provides increased protection to patients to ensure that recommitments are based on sufficient evidence." *Id.*, ¶43.

Second, the Court in D.J.W. explained that its mandate "will clarify issues raised on appeal of recommitment orders and ensure the soundness of judicial decision making, especially with regard to challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence." Id., ¶44. Continuing, the Court explained, "[a] more substantial record will better equip appellate courts to do their job, further ensure meaningful appellate review of the evidence presented in recommitment proceedings." Id.

Case 2023AP001484 Petition for Review Filed 02-23-2024 Page 17 of 26

B. The circuit court must make sufficient "specific factual findings" to support its conclusion that D.S. was dangerous under the elements of the fifth standard.

Here, the circuit court specifically identified the fifth standard of dangerousness by reciting the statutory language. (See 128:27-28; App. 21-22). The court of appeals noted this recitation of the elements to be the circuit court's "specific determinations." D.S., No. 2023AP1484, unpublished slip op., ¶¶5-15. (App. 14-15). However, while it recited the language of the statute in its legal determination, the circuit court did not make sufficient factual findings to support that legal conclusion. Instead, the court recited the expert's vague, conclusory testimony.

The circuit court made the following factual findings as to the evidence of dangerousness:

As to the dangerousness, under the fifth standard, the [d]octor had indicated through prior treatment that when [D.S.] goes off of his medications and is not involved in treatment, he decompensates. And, here, there was testimony that he was a danger to himself or others through his actions.

[D.S.] himself admitted to the [d]octor the same of going to other peoples' houses primarily resulting from his delusions that there are -- that he owns the houses or should be inside the houses. There was testimony that, in the past, there were restraining orders that were taken out against him. Certainly, in today's climate, when one goes

Case 2023AP001484 Petition for Review Filed 02-23-2024 Page 18 of 26

into a house or near a window of another person without their permission, there is inherent risk in doing so.

As for recent acts or omissions that [D.S.] has done, he has indicated his intention not to take the medication to the doctor. . . .

(128:26-27; App. 20-21). The court of appeals specifically referenced the first two paragraphs above, concluding that the circuit court's "discussion of the behavior [D.S.] repeatedly engaged in on prior occasions when he stopped taking medication, along with [D.S.]'s repeated assertions that he will not continue taking medication voluntarily, laid a sufficient factual predicate to establish the elements of dangerousness under the fifth standard."

However, the circuit court's factual finding related to "restraining orders" taken out against D.S. was based on testimony that the court had determined was hearsay. When the testimony was offered, defense counsel objected as to foundation and hearsay, and the court overruled the objection. (128:11-13). The court determined that the testimony was not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted. (128:13). Therefore, it was not admissible evidence upon which the court could conclude that restraining orders had in fact been taken out against D.S. See Wis. Stat. § 908.01(3). If the testimony was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted, it cannot be relied on in the court's factual findings. As a result, the court's factual finding on this point was clearly erroneous.

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