FILED
03-06-2024
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case Number: 2023AP1484

In the matter of the Mental Commitment of D.S.:

WINNEBAGO COUNTY,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

D.S.,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner

On Appeal from an Order for Extension of Commitment and
Entered in Winnebago County Circuit Court, The Honorable
Michael S. Gibbs, Presiding

COUNTY'S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO THE
PETITION FOR REVIEW

CATHERINE B. SCHERER,
Assistant Corporation Counsel
State Bar Number: 1026614
Attorney for Petitioner-Respondent

Winnebago County Office of
Corporation Counsel
112 Otter Avenue
Oshkosh, WI 54901
(920) 236-4752
cscherer@winnebagocountywi.gov

INTRODUCTION

In this Chapter 51 recommitment case, the circuit court found that the County met its burden to prove that Dennis¹ was mentally ill, a proper subject for treatment and dangerous. (R118). The circuit court believed the County proved dangerousness pursuant to Wis. Stats. §§ 51.20(1)2.e. and (1)(am). *Id.* The court also entered an involuntary medication order, however, Dennis did not appeal from that order. (R119). As alleged, testified to and argued, the expert's unchallenged testimony and report proved that Dennis was dangerous because there was a substantial likelihood, based on Dennis's treatment record, that Dennis would become dangerous under the fifth standard if treatment was withdrawn. *See* Wis. Stats. §§ 51.20(1)(a)2.e. and (1)(am).

At the conclusion of the trial, the court made a thorough record that supported every element of the dangerousness standards alleged. He found the expert to be credible. He stated the standards explicitly. In his findings, he summarized the facts that demonstrated Dennis's condition fit squarely within the recommitment and fifth standards. His decision complies with the recent directive in *Langlade County v. D.J.W.* that circuit courts should "make specific factual findings with reference to the subdivision paragraph of Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2. on

¹ To be consistent with the court of appeals decision and to maintain confidentiality, the County refers to D.S. as "Dennis" in its response.

which the commitment is based." *D.J.W.*, 2020 WI 41, ¶3, 391 Wis. 2d 231, 942 N.W.2d 277.

In a straightforward decision, the court of appeals agreed that the *D.J.W.* directive was met and that there was sufficient evidence of dangerousness. *Winnebago County v. D.S.*, No. 2023AP1484, unpublished slip op., (WI App January 24, 2024).

This Court should deny the petition for review for three reasons. First, the court of appeals correctly applied the standard of review to Dennis's sufficiency of the evidence claim and determined that, as a matter of law, the court's fact-based decision regarding dangerousness complied with *D.J.W.*. Second, this case will be moot after April 17, 2024, and Dennis has not explained how an exception to the mootness doctrine applies. Third, since Wis. Stat. § 51.20(13)(e) controls the burden of proof applied in Chapter 51 recommitment cases, Dennis's argument that the credible and unchallenged facts in this case do not prove by clear, satisfactory and convincing evidence that he is dangerous is best made to the legislature, not to this Court.

REASONS THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court's primary function is to clarify or interpret the law, not review facts, issues forfeited at trial or discretionary acts of the court. "Supreme court review is a matter of judicial discretion, not of right, and will be granted only when special and important reasons are

presented." Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r). No such reasons have been presented in Dennis's petition. Nor have the statutory criteria in section 809.62(1r) been met. Dennis's petition should be denied for three reasons.

- I. The court of appeals correctly held that the circuit court complied with the *D.J.W.* directive and there was sufficient evidence of dangerousness.

The decision of the court of appeals is not in conflict with the supreme court's decision in *D.J.W.* and, therefore, it does not meet the single criterion Dennis identifies for granting review. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(d). In its decision, the court of appeals correctly recited the court's directive to trial courts in *D.J.W.* "to make specific factual findings with reference to the subdivision paragraph of Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2., on which the commitment is based." *D.S.*, ¶16 (citing to *D.J.W.*, ¶3). It accurately cited the purpose of the court's holding in *D.J.W.*, which was twofold: "First, it provides clarity and extra protection to patients regarding the underlying basis for a recommitment." *D.J.W.*, ¶42. "Second, a requirement of specific factual findings with reference to a subdivision paragraph of Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2. will clarify issues raised on appeal of recommitment orders and ensure the soundness of judicial decision making, specifically with regard to challenges based on the sufficiency of the evidence." *D.J.W.*, ¶44.

The court of appeals found that the "purposes of the 'specific factual findings' requirement were met here." *D.S.*, ¶17. It agreed "with the County that the record is

clear as to which standard of dangerousness the circuit court applied in this case. [The expert's] testimony and report invoked the fifth standard, the parties tailored their arguments to that standard, and the court focused on the fifth standard in its oral ruling." *Id.* Unlike the case presented in *D.J.W.*, no guesswork is required when reviewing the record. *See D.J.W.*, ¶45 ("In the future, such guesswork will be avoided by our newly instituted requirement for specific factual findings with reference to a subdivision paragraph of § 51.20(1)(a)2.")

The court of appeals concluded that Dennis's argument that the circuit court's findings on several elements of the fifth standard were clearly erroneous lacked merit. *Id.*, ¶ 19. It observed that Dennis's appellate arguments about the record mischaracterized evidentiary rulings, recency requirements, and the trial court's findings. *Id.*, ¶¶19-21.

The court of appeals found that the circuit court complied with *D.J.W.* for several reasons. First, in its decision, the circuit court recited every element of the recommitment and the fifth standard of dangerousness. However, "the circuit court did more than simply 'parrot[] the statutory language.' *See S.H.*, 3939 Wis.2d 511, ¶17." *Id.*, ¶25 (citing to *Winnebago County v. S.H.*, 2020 WI App 46, ¶17, 393 Wis. 2d 511, 947 N.W.2d 761). The circuit court stated expressly that he found the expert to be credible. *Id.* Then, "the court discussed the crux of the evidence that, in its view, established dangerousness". *Id.* The circuit court summarized Dennis's treatment history

and his admission of acting on delusional beliefs that he owned neighbors' homes and would enter them at great risk to himself and others. *Id.* Importantly, the court of appeals observed:

Though the circuit court did not specifically refer to these facts each time it found one of the elements of the fifth standard, its discussion of the behavior Dennis repeatedly engaged in on prior occasions when he stopped taking medication, along with Dennis's repeated assertions that he will not continue taking medication voluntarily, laid a sufficient factual predicate to establish the elements of dangerousness under the fifth standard.

Id., ¶ 28.

The court of appeals decision is consistent with the *D.J.W.* directive. The trial court provided this Court, the court of appeals and the litigants with notice of what dangerousness standards it relied on and its reasons for doing so. *See Sauk County. v. S.A.M.*, 2022 WI 46, ¶36, 402 Wis. 2d 379, 975 N.W.2d 162 (where the court recognized that even "[t]hough no witness recited the Third [dangerousness] Standard with exactness," the record showed "the circuit court, parties, and witnesses [were] all in accord regarding the statutory standards they were applying"). Unlike *D.J.W.*, everyone in Dennis's case had notice of the dangerousness alleged. Unlike *D.J.W.*, the circuit court was specific about what dangerousness standards were proven and why.

In its written form, the fifth standard is long and complex. However, the essence of the fifth standard "addresses dangerousness arising from an inability to

understand the advantages and disadvantages of a particular medication or treatment." *Dane County v. Kelly M.*, 2011 WI App 69, ¶8, 333 Wis. 2d 719, 798 N.W.2d 697. The details in the factual findings in this case reveal that the trial court recognized that Dennis's condition represented a classic fifth standard case. The goals of the *D.J.W.* directive were met here and it cannot be credibly argued that the decisions of the trial and appellate courts are in conflict with *D.J.W.*. Therefore, the single criterion identified by Dennis in his petition has not been satisfied pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(d).

Lastly, Dennis unsuccessfully raised sufficiency of the evidence on appeal. Yet, he repeats the same arguments in his petition. This Court ordinarily does not favor accepting sufficiency of the evidence issues for review. Dennis's issue does not satisfy any of the criteria in Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r). Dennis recognizes this on page 4 of his petition. This case does not present any unique reason for this Court to veer from this regular practice. Even if this Court grants the petition to review the alleged *D.J.W.* error, it should not review the sufficiency of the evidence holding.

The unchallenged and credible expert's testimony in this case mirrored the statutory standard. It, therefore, met the standard. While the trial court may not have applied all the facts found to the law element by element, it "discussed the crux of the evidence" that "laid a sufficient predicate to establish the elements of dangerousness under

the fifth standard." *D.S.*, ¶28. The court recognized that Dennis's condition presented a classic fifth standard of dangerousness case. The court believed the County met its burden to prove Dennis was dangerous and gave reasons to support its conclusion. His written orders also reflect this belief. (R118). Applying the proper standard of review, the court of appeals correctly held that this is sufficient evidence. *D.S.*, ¶28.

II. This case will be moot after April 17, 2024, and Dennis does not argue that an exception to the mootness doctrine applies.

The twelve-month recommitment order on appeal in this case will expire on April 17, 2024. At that time, the order will become moot. Dennis is silent about the impending mootness issue in his petition, and thereby forfeits this argument. There is no compelling reason for this Court to take jurisdiction of this almost-moot case since he also fails to convince this Court that any of the criteria to grant his petition apply.

The supreme court recently held that Chapter 51 commitments are not moot when the committee identifies collateral consequences, such as the firearms restriction and financial liability for care, that survive the expiration of the order. *See Marathon County v. D.K.*, 2020 WI 8, ¶3, 390 Wis. 2d 50, 937 N.W.2d 901, and *S.A.M.*, ¶19-20. Unlike the parties in *D.K.* and *S.A.M.*, however, Dennis does not identify any ongoing collateral consequences he believes make his appeal non-moot. Therefore, the court's

recent holdings in *D.K.* and *S.A.M.* do not apply in this case.

"Mootness is a doctrine of judicial restraint." *D.K.*, ¶19. As the Appellant-Petitioner, it is Dennis's burden to 1) raise the obvious impending issue, and 2) assert to this Court that collateral consequences apply to him to establish that his issue is not moot, or explain how an exception to the mootness doctrine applies to his moot case. Dennis has failed to show this Court why his case is either not moot, or that an exception to the mootness doctrine applies.

III. Dennis's argument that the burden of proof was not met in this case is best made to the legislature, not this Court.

On this record, Dennis's insistence that the record lacks sufficient evidence because the County did not meet its burden of proof is contrary to Wis. Stat. § 51.20(13)(e). This section requires the application of the middle burden of proof in Chapter 51 civil commitment cases. In this case, the County did everything right. It called a prepared and credible expert knowledgeable about Dennis to testify about all of the elements of the dangerousness alleged. The expert was familiar with the treatment records. During the expert's testimony, the County modeled its questions around the statutory standards and asked many clarifying questions. The expert didn't just provide yes or no answers to the thorough, direct examination by the County. He provided full answers and many examples of dangerous behavior that related to Dennis's mental illness and refusal to properly treat it.

Despite the large volume of uncontested and credible expert testimony presented at a court trial, Dennis petitions this Court, suggesting that more is required. Is it? Of course not. Here, the County did everything it was supposed to do. As recommended in *Marathon County v. D.K.*, the County "developed its medical expert's testimony, moved the expert's report into evidence, and properly provided notice of its witnesses." *Id.*, ¶ 55. As recommended by *D.K.*, the circuit court made "specific factual findings" by discussing "the behavior Dennis repeatedly engaged in on prior occasions when he stopped taking medication, along with Dennis's repeated assertions that he will not continue taking medication voluntarily", which "laid a sufficient factual predicate to establish the elements of dangerousness under the fifth standard." *D.S.*, ¶28. *See also D.K.*, ¶55 ("Also the circuit court could have made more detailed and thorough factual findings and clarified its legal conclusions.").


Dennis's demands for more evidence in his case appear to be a veiled attempt to raise the burden of proof in civil commitment hearings. The only higher burden of proof would be "beyond a reasonable doubt." This is contrary to section 51.20(13)(e). To effect the change Dennis really wants, he needs to ask the legislature. "Our form of government provides for one legislature, not two." *Flynn v. DOA*, 216 Wis. 2d 251, 529, 576 N.W.2d 245 (1998).

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the petition for review.